IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI RE: NO. 2009-CA-01200-SCT

LAURA CARPENTER	APPELLANT
V.	
TANGELA BERRY, ET AL.	APPELLEE
ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT	
OF ADAMS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI TRIAL COURT NO.: 2005-432	
BRIEF FOR APPELLANT	

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

Heber S. Simmons III, Esq. (MB N Christopher G. Henderson, Esq. (MB I Seth Hall, Esq. (MB No. Simmons Law Group, P.A. 240 Trace Colony Park Drive, Suite 200 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157 Telephone No.: 601-914-2882 Attorneys for Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI RE: NO. 2009-CA-01200-SCT

LAURA CARPENTER

APPELLANT

V.

TANGELA BERRY, ET AL.

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The sole issue on appeal is whether the Honorable Kenneth Middleton of the Chancery Court of Adams County abused his discretion under Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b) in setting aside a fully-performed settlement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order of the Adams County Chancery Court, Hon. Kenneth Middleton, setting aside a settlement between Laura Carpenter and Petitioners Tangela Berry and Ricky Banks. R. at 206. This Order was signed on June 30, 2009, and relieved Petitioners from a previous Chancery Court Decree authorizing the settlement between the parties pursuant to Rule 60(b). The original Decree Authorizing Settlement of Claim was signed by Judge Middleton after a hearing on August 11, 2005. R. at 30-41. This appeal comes before the Supreme Court on the Court's Order converting Ms. Carpenter's Petition for Interlocutory Appeal into a timely notice of appeal of a final judgment. R. at 207.

Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks petitioned the Chancery Court of Adams County, Mississippi, to be appointed as Guardians of the estate of their Minor son on July 7, 2005. R. at 2-5. According to the Petition, the Minor child was born on September 24, 2003, and was, by and through Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks, a Plaintiff in a civil suit before the Circuit Court of the First Judicial Circuit of Adams County against Tom Carey, Jr. M.D., Natchez Community Hospital, Inc., OB-GYN Clinic, Inc., Donielle Daigle, M.D. and Laura Carpenter. R. at 2; see also R. at 18-28. The Chancery Court ordered that Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks be appointed as their son's guardians on July 13, 2005, and the Chancery Court issued Letters of Guardianship on July 18, 2005. R. at 6: 9-10.

On August 4, 2005, Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks petitioned the Chancery Court to settle the Minor's claims against Defendant Laura Carpenter. R. at 11-29. According to the Petition signed by Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks, "[o]n June 13, 2005, the Plaintiffs and Defendant Laura Carpenter conducted settlement negotiations between themselves, which resulted in a negotiated settlement". R. at 12. The Petition provided that the Minor, by and through Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks, had the full benefit of counsel during these negotiations and Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks believed that the

Chancery Court's approval of the settlement was is the best interest of the Minor. R. at 12-13; [Ex. A]. In the Petition for Authority to Settle Minor's Claim, Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks expressly stated "that any and all claims which could be brought by them individually or by them on behalf of said Minor, ... will be forever terminated and extinguished as to Defendant, Laura Carpenter." R. at 13.

In their Petition for Authority to Settle Minor's Claim, Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks requested that the Chancery Court provide authority for them to execute an Agreed Order of Dismissal with Prejudice as to all claims against Defendant Laura Carpenter before the Circuit Court as well as all necessary Releases and/or Parent Guardian Indemnification Agreements to terminate all claims against Laura Carpenter. <u>Id.</u> The petitioners also requested that the Chancery Court entitle their attorney to an award of attorney's fees from the settlement for "good and valuable services". <u>Id.</u>

A hearing on the Petition for Authority to Settle Minor's Claim transpired on August 11, 2005, before the Honorable Kennie Middleton. T. at 1-9. Everett Sanders, counsel for Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks, began by stating that Laura Carpenter's involvement in the medical negligence case was negligible and that Ms. Carpenter's counsel had offered to settle. T. at 3:1-8. "In light of the evidence that we have of personal liability", stated counsel for Petitioners, "we think that while it's nuisance value we think that it is something that would be appropriate." T. at 3:9-11. After addressing how the settlement amount would be split among the Petitioners, the Minor, and their counsel, Mr. Sanders told the Court the extent of the Minors injuries:

There are a number of outstanding bills that are owed to Medicaid, some \$400,000.00 has been billed in connection with the treatment of the minor. Medicaid is making a claim for some \$150-something thousand dollars. We have spoken with Medicaid and we are attempting to get them to waive any claim that they have against these proceeds... This is being looked at administratively and I have reason to believe that they're going to agree to the waiver.

T. at 3:21 – 4:1. Accordingly, the parties agreed to structure the language in the Release so that the settlement was not required to pay off any Medicaid lien. T. at 4:1-8.

Judge Middleton then proceeded to hear sworn testimony from Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks regarding the settlement under examination by counsel for Laura Carpenter. T. at 4:27 – 8:26. The Petitioners testified that they were petitioning for authority to settle the claim related to their son, on his behalf and in their own individual capacities. T. at 5:6-15:7:5-13. They stated that by accepting the settlement, they were settling and releasing all claims alleged by them against Laura Carpenter for the settlement amount. T. at 5:18-22; 7:16-20. They testified that they fully understood that the settlement would prevent them from bringing any further actions against Laura Carpenter. T. at 6: 5-9; 8:13-17. They testified that the settlement included all causes and claims against Laura Carpenter, her representatives, heirs, insurers, agents, and assigns. T. at 5:23-28; 7:21-26. They testified that in agreeing to the settlement, they would voluntarily dismiss their claims against Laura Carpenter and that their attorney would execute an Agreed Order of Dismissal with Prejudice. T. at 5:29 - 6:4: 8:7-12. Finally, they stated that their decision to settle the matter was made in conjunction with advice from their attorney. T. at 6:10-12; 8:18-20.

Judge Middleton approved the settlement after finding that the proposed settlement was reasonable. T. at 9:1-3. The Court authorized the parties "to execute any and all documents necessary to consummate the settlement arrangement and to execute releases fully and finally releasing any and all parties against whom claims are now pending in this particular aspect of the case". T. at 9:3-7. The Court allowed Petitioners to receive funds to pay "reasonable and proper" attorney's fees. T. at 9:7-11.

According to the Decree Authorizing Settlement of Claimed signed by the attorneys and Judge Middleton, the Court stated "that said settlement and compromise is a fair and reasonable

settlement of a doubtful claim and it is in the best interest of the minor and all others that such sums should be accepted and said settlement made and consummated." R. at 32; [Ex. B]. The Court noted that the offer of settlement was "conditioned upon the execution and delivery of a full, final and complete" release and acquittance of Laura Carpenter. Id. An unsigned copy of the Release was attached to the Decree as Exhibit I. R. at 34-41. The purpose and intent of the Release was not to release any claims that the Petitioners or the Minor had against any other defendant in the civil action. R. at 37. Furthermore, "Th[e] Release with Covenants contains the entire agreement between the parties hereto, and the terms of this Release are contracted, not mere recitals." Id. The Release was signed by Ms. Berry, Mr. Banks, and their attorneys on August 24, 2005. R. at 86-93.

On July 17, 2008, new counsel for Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks filed their Petition to Set Aside Settlement with the Chancery Court of Adams County. R. at 43-103; [Ex. C]. The Petitioners argued that because of the subsequent decision in J&JTimber Co. v. Broome, 932 So. 2d 1 (Miss. 2006), the settlement agreement entered into by Petitioners was not in the best interest of the Minor and must be set aside. R. at 45. The Petitioners explained that J&JTimber retroactively "made [the Chancery] Court's approval of the settlement agreement unworkable as a matter of law" because the decision changed established precedent regarding settlement agreements such that releasing a tortfeasor released the tortfeasor's employer for claims based on vicarious liability. R. at 47-48.

The Petition claimed that because of J & J Timber, the settlement reached with Laura Carpenter released a potential vicarious liability claim against Laura Carpenter's employer, Natchez Community Hospital, in addition to all claims against Ms. Carpenter personally. R. at 48. The Petitioners argued that the settlement must be set aside pursuant to Rule 60(b) because "this settlement on behalf of the minor was approved based on the fact that all claims, including vicarious liability claims, were being preserved against all remaining defendants." R. at 47. Petitioners

claimed that setting aside this settlement was warranted under 60(b)(6) because the settlement was based on an erroneous legal conclusion. R, at 49, citing Williams v. Rembert, 654 So. 2d 26, 28-29 (Miss. 1995).

The Petition presented *In re Guardianship of Lane*, 994 So. 2d 775 (Miss. App. 2008) to support that the settlement with Ms. Carpenter should be set aside because of *J & J Timber*. R. at 45-46. Petitioners argued that *Lane I* approved a Chancery Court decision to set aside a settlement because *J & J Timber* retroactively altered a settlement agreement which was approved on the condition that a similar vicarious liability claim would remain viable. Id. Petitioners also cited the chancellor's role as a guardian over minors before pleading that "this Court should not allow the minor... to be prejudiced by the omission and/or neglect of his guardians, attorneys, and other people involved with the settlement with Laura Carpenter." R. at 46. In addition to Rule 60(b), Petitioners also argued that the settlement should be set aside or rescinded for no meeting of the minds, an indemnity provision which was void as a matter of law, impossibility of performance, and for misrepresentation – all because *J & J Timber* allegedly released a potential vicarious liability claim. R. at 49-52.

On July 24, 2008, counsel for Laura Carpenter filed her Objection and Motion to Stay Pending Resolution of Writ of Certiorari. R. at 109-12; [Ex. D]. Ms. Carpenter asked the Chancery Court to stay the consideration of Petitioners' Motion to Set Aside Settlement until the Supreme Court considered a pending Petition for Writ of Ceritorari challenging Lane I. R. at 110. Petitioners responded to this motion that the Supreme Court's review of Lane I was irrelevant to the Chancery Court's ruling. R. at 117-20. Petitioners set their Motion to Set Aside the Settlement for hearing on August 26, 2008. R. at 121-22.

At the hearing on Petition to Set Aside Settlement, Judge Middleton interrupted and asked to conference with all counsel, as Petitioners' counsel began his argument. T. at 13:1-4. When the hearing re-convened, Judge Middleton stated: "In light of that we better make the record clear that we have had a conference concerning the fact that one of the parties in this case is the son of a former secretary of the Judge and that this is made known to all parties..." T. at 13:11-14. Judge Middleton had informed the parties that Petitioner Ricky Banks' mother had previously been a secretary for him. All parties agreed to proceed as none perceived a conflict.

Counsel for Petitioners proceeded to argue that the result of J & J Timber undermined the purpose of the settlement to release only Laura Carpenter and that $Lane\ I$ directed the Court to set aside the settlement by factual analogy. T. at 13:21-16:29. Counsel stated:

given the catastrophic injuries of this minor child, given their legitimate and credible claims against Natchez Community Hospital, this Court, as the Superior Guardian and under your responsibilities, Your Honor, would not and could not have approved the settlement of a doubtful claim of a minor for that nominal amount of money if it meant releasing a credible claim against the hospital that did have the coverage that would help pay the damages, the catastrophic damages that this child has suffered...

T. at 14:9-18.

Counsel for Laura Carpenter distinguished $Lane\ I$ on two grounds: that Petitioners and Minor had other claims against Laura Carpenter's employer that were not solely dependent on the hospital's vicarious liability for Laura Carpenter's actions and that the amount of time between the J & J Timber decision and the motion to set aside prejudiced Laura Carpenter. $\underline{T. at 17-20}$. Counsel for Ms. Carpenter stated:

Judge Middleton failed to notify counsel that he served as Executive Director of the Jefferson Comprehensive Health Center, an organization Plaintiff Ricky Banks has worked for since 2003. This fact was not discovered until Judge Middleton's death.

the prejudice is obvious on its face to bring a defendant back into a case three years after the fact when the plaintiffs were represented by competent and able counsel. This was presented to the Court in all facets and it was agreed to by consenting parties and the consideration was paid....

<u>T. at 23:12-17</u>. In rebuttal, counsel for Petitioners stated that "the only thing that this Court has to consider is that at the time of this settlement, that the settlement was approved, that all parties under the understanding that there would be no claims dismissed against Natchez Community Hospital for vicarious liability." $\underline{T. at 20:27 - 21:3}$. Before the hearing adjourned, Petitioners maintained that Lane I was only a guide for the court and that "what we're asking [the Court] to do is apply Rule 60(b), apply contact [sic] law to this and have it set aside." $\underline{T. at 24:17-19}$.

Thereafter, on October 28, 2008, counsel for Petitioners filed their Amended Petition to Set Aside Settlement. R. at 128-154; [Ex. E]. Petitioners conceded that under Whitaker v. T & M Foods, Ltd., 2008 WL 4427231 (Miss. October 2, 2008)(withdrawn and replaced at 7 So. 3d 893 (Miss. 2009)), the retroactive application of J & J Timber was prohibited by the Contracts Clause of the Mississippi Constitution and was inapplicable to the Minor's vicarious liability claim against Laura Carpenter's employer. R. at 128. Nevertheless, Petitioners argued that the settlement should be set aside because they had subsequently learned that Laura Carpenter had insurance coverage. R. at 128. Relying on correspondence from June 2005 (R. at 29; 141) and the hearing transcript from August 2005, Petitioners claimed that their prior counsel lied to the Court regarding their diligent efforts to effect a settlement. R. at 129. Further, they alleged that "counsel was complicit in the failure to provide [the insurance coverage] information to the Court", and that "defense counsel took undue advantage of this disabled minor and his poor representation of counsel." R. at 129.

Petitioners' Amended Petition asserted that the settlement should be set aside "as it is based on incorrect facts and not in the best interest of the minor" and "because the settlement amount was

nominal, especially in relation to Ms. Carpenter's insurance coverage" R. at 130-131. Petitioners pointed to the phrase "nuisance value" to indicate that the settlement was in the best interest of counsel and not the Minor. R. at 130. Petitioners argued that "[i]t is absurd to release what appears to be the most culpable tortfeasor for such a nominal amount when coverage exists that could contribute to make this minor whole." R. at 130. The Petitioners prayed that Judge Middleton "set aside the settlement contract between the Plaintiffs and Laura Carpenter pursuant to Rule 60(b) and other reasons discussed *supra*." R. at 131.

On December 11, 2008, counsel for Laura Carpenter filed her Response to the Petition and Amended Petition to Set Aside Settlement with the Chancery Court. R. 157 – 189; [Ex. F]. Ms. Carpenter's response noted that Lane I was reversed by the Supreme Court in In re Guardianship of Lane, 994 So. 2d 757 (Miss. 2008), because the settlement had been fully performed, thereby precluding an argument that performance was impossible. R. at 160. Similarly, Laura Carpenter's settlement was complete, and therefore not impossible to perform, after the execution of the Release Agreement (See R. at 86-93), the payment of the settlement proceeds, and Laura Carpenter's dismissal with prejudice from the related circuit court case. R. at 162. The response also recognized Petitioner's concession that the Minor's vicarious liability claims remain viable under the Contract Clause of the Mississippi Constitution. R. at 161-162, (citing Whitaker, 7 So. 3d 893 (Miss. 2009)).

Regarding the arguments proffered in the Amended Petition, Ms. Carpenter's response noted that any application of Rule 60(b)(1), (2), and (3) was expressly time barred. R. at 163. The response then confronted the Amended Petition's allegations with the corresponding section of Rule 60(b) and case law. R. at 164 - 166. Petitioners failed to provided clear and convincing evidence of fraud or misrepresentation to support Rule 60(b)(1). R. at 164. Petitioners failed to show

exceptional circumstances to justify an accident or mistake under Rule 60(b)(2). R. at 165. Petitioners' use of Rule 60(b) was an improper attempt to relitigate what the Petitioners and the Chancery Court had determined to be in the best interest of the Minor. R. at 166. Finally, the response reiterated the "complete injustice to Laura Carpenter" if the settlement were set aside as Ms. Carpenter would be forced back into circuit court "to relitigate a case which was dismissed with prejudice some three years earlier." R. at 166. The response requested that the Petitions be denied because the settlement had been fully performed and that the Petitions failed to satisfy the requirements of Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b). R, at 166 – 167.

Five months after Laura Carpenter's Response, counsel for Petitioners filed a Supplement to Petitioners' Amended Petition to Set Aside Settlement. R. at 194 – 201. The Supplement attached affidavit testimony of Ms. Berry and Mr. Banks and claimed that neither parent was "fully appraised of the settlement or the potential ramifications" of releasing Ms. Carpenter. R. at 194. The supplement claimed that Petitioners' counsel did not inform them of Ms. Carpenter's potential liability in the case, any expert opinions, the value of Petitioners' case, or the amount of Ms. Carpenter's insurance. R. at 194. The parents stated as much in their Affidavits. R. at 198; 200; [Ex. G].

The supplement claimed that the Petitioners "relied to their detriment on the misrepresentations of counsel to Petitioners and the Court that the settlement was the best they could receive from this Defendant and was in the best interest of the minor." R. at 195. The Petitioners averred that had they been fully informed beforehand of the circumstances surrounding the settlement, including Ms. Carpenter's insurance coverage, they would not have agreed to the settlement. R. at 198 – 199; 200 – 201. The supplement concluded that, "the Court's ruling allowing the settlement should be set aside as it is based on erroneous and misleading facts and

counsel's misrepresentations" and "because it is not in the best interest of the minor." R, at 195-196.

A notice for a July 1, 2009, status conference by telephone of the parties before Judge Middleton was filed by Petitioners' counsel on June 30, 2009. R. at 204. This hearing was preempted by Judge Middleton's Order Granting Petitioners' Petition to Set Aside Settlement pursuant to Rule 60(b), which was signed on June 30, 2009. R. at 206; [Ex. H]. According to the Order, the Court examined "said Original and Amended Petitions and Supplement thereto and the facts as established by pleadings and supporting evidence" and found:

that the Petition... [is] well taken as there was insufficient evidence at the time of settlement and at the August 11, 2005, hearing on Petition to Approve Settlement to establish that Petitioners' settlement with Defendant Laura Carpenter was fair and reasonable and in the best interest of the minor,... Further, additional evidence has been presented to the Court which demonstrates that the... settlement with Ms. Carpenter was not fair and reasonable and in the minor's best interest.

R. at 206 (emphasis added).

Thereafter, Laura Carpenter filed her Petition for Interlocutory Appeal. The Supreme Court treated Ms. Carpenter's Petition for Interlocutory Appeal as a timely Notice of Appeal of Judge Middleton's Order setting aside the settlement. R. at 207.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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