## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-01200-SCT

LAURA CARPENTER

**APPELLANT** 

V.

TANGELA BERRY, RICKY BANKS and TANGELA BERRY AND RICKY BANKS, AS THE NEXT OF KIN AND FRIEND TO THE MINOR, RYHEIM BANKS

**APPELLEES** 

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF ADAMS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI TRIAL COURT NO.: 2005-432

#### **BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE**

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

Shane F. Langston, Esquire (MSB No Rebecca M. Langston, Esq. (MSB No LANGSTON & LANGSTON, PLLC 201 North President Street Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone No.: 601-969-1356 Attorney for Appellee

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-CA-01200-SCT

LAURA CARPENTER

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

Every petition for authority to compromise and settle a claim for ... injury shall set forth the facts in relation thereto and the reasons for such compromise and the settlement and the amount thereof. The material witnesses concerning the injury ... and the damages resulting therefrom shall be produced before the Chancellor for examination. Where counsel representing the petition has investigated the matter and advised settlement, he shall so appear and give testimony touching the result of his investigation.

So, it is clear from the record that counsel for Defendant Carpenter as well as Ryheim's lawyer jointly undertook the duty to ensure that the minor's settlement complied with Rule 6.10 and Miss. Code Ann. §93-13-59. As we will argue below, they failed miserably to meet that duty on several levels.

Mr. Daniel prepared the chancery court filings quickly. Within days of the negotiated settlement, a petition was filed to appoint the Banks co-guardians. On August 4, 2005, after the Banks had been appointed co-guardians, the "Petition for Authority to Settle Minor's Claim" was filed. A week later, on August 11, 2005, a hearing was held. Mr. Bowan's co-counsel, Everett Sanders, Esq., appeared on behalf of the Banks. Mr. Daniel appeared on behalf of Defendant Carpenter. Mr. Daniel, who had prepared the chancery court filings, examined Mr. and Mrs. Banks under oath. Mr. Sanders did not participate in the examination. (R., Vol. 3, at 11-12.) Following Mr. Daniel's examination of the Banks the settlement was approved. (R., Vol. 3, at 9.)

As stated above, the settlement was an aggregate settlement. Ryheim did not receive the full \$25,000 settlement. Instead, the settlement proceeds were distributed as follows:

\$10,000 to Howard Bowan, Esq. and Everett Sanders, Esq.;

\$5,000 to mother Tangela Banks;

\$5,000 to father Ricky Banks; and

\$5,000 to Ryheim's guardianship account.

The "evidence" filed in the chancery court or offered at the hearing purportedly to show that the settlement was fair and reasonable and in the child's best interest speaks for itself. (R., Vol. 3, at 1-9.) It is nonexistent.

Nothing in the record even remotely attempts to satisfy Rule 6.10 or Miss. Code Ann. §93-13-59. Where in the petition drafted by Defendant Carpenter's counsel does it set forth the "facts in relation [to the claims for injury] and the reasons for such compromise and the settlement" as required under Rule 6.10? Where in the hearing transcript did Mr. Daniel, while examining Mr. and Mrs. Banks, elicit testimony "concerning the injury and the damages resulting therefrom" as required under Rule 6.10? Its not there. The law was ignored.

Nothing in the record even hints that this child is severely, permanently neurologically impaired requiring 24/7/365 care for the rest of his life. Nothing, save counsel's comment that the "involvement" of Defendant Carpenter "as individually, is negligible", provides the chancery court with any information whatsoever of Defendant Carpenter's actual involvement and role in the care of Mrs. Banks when she presented at Natchez Community in premature labor. (R., Vol. 3, at 1-9.) Nothing in the record shows that the chancery court was informed that Defendant Carpenter was the primary caregiver responsible for assessing and monitoring Mrs. Banks upon her admission to Natchez Community Hospital and for hours and hours before co-defendant Dr. Tom Carey even arrived at the hospital. Neither Mr. Daniel nor Mr. Sanders offered anything that would support a finding that the minor's settlement was fair, reasonable and in this child's best interest. Further, neither offered any evidence to support a \$5,000 allocation to Ryheim or the \$10,000 awarded to Mr. Bowan and Mr. Sanders.

Most disturbingly, it is clear from the record that the chancery court pleadings prepared by Defendant Carpenter's counsel, as well as the argument and presentation at the hearing, were at best misleading and clearly omitted material facts. The misrepresentations include the representation that "Attorneys(sic) Howard Bowan has been (sic) rendered good and valuable services . . . ." (Petition, R. at 3, ¶12.) This representation was made when counsel for Defendant Carpenter had actual knowledge that Mr. Bowan had done nothing since filing the lawsuit. (Letter, R. at 29.)<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Defendant Carpenter in her brief argued that Judge Middleton knew that Ryheim's counsel had done nothing but approved the settlement anyhow. (Appellant's brief at p. 17.) In support of this argument Defendant Carpenter cited the June 2005 letter from Mr. Daniel to Mr. Bowan where he referenced the then moot issue that Mr. Bowan had conducted no discovery. With the several other contradictory claims that Mr. Bowan's efforts were "long, hard and diligent" it's doubtful that Judge Middleton even noticed this reference.

Another misrepresentation is found in the "Decree Authorizing Settlement of Claim" prepared by counsel for Defendant Carpenter and presented to Chancery Judge Middleton on the same day of the hearing where it was decreed:

That this Court has reviewed and heard evidence concerning the relevant medical information, that said offer is the best offer that can be had after long, hard and diligent efforts by Petitioners and that it is in the best interest of Ryheim Banks, a minor, and Petitioners that said offer be accepted ...."

(Decree, R. at 31, ¶4.) Defendant Carpenter's counsel Mr. Daniel drafted this Decree and when presented to Honorable Middleton Mr. Daniel had actual knowledge that Honorable Middleton in fact had not "reviewed and heard evidence concerning the relevant medical information" and that there were no "long, hard and diligent efforts" advanced by anyone on behalf of the minor Ryheim.

Additionally, as acknowledged by Defendant Carpenter, at the time that the minor's settlement was submitted to the chancery court for approval neither the court nor counsel for the Banks had knowledge that Defendant Carpenter had \$1,000,000.00 in insurance coverage available to pay Ryheim's claim for his catastrophic injuries. Defendant Carpenter does not deny that neither the Banks, nor their counsel nor judge Middleton was aware of this fact, she simply argues that counsel for the Banks never sought this information before the "long, hard and diligent" settlement negotiations were concluded or before the settlement was approved by the court. (Appellant brief at p. 17.) She ignores the fact that she and her counsel had actual knowledge of this material fact; that her counsel worked with the Banks' counsel to ensure compliance with Rule 6.10 and Miss. Code Ann. §93-13-59; and that Defendant Carpenter's counsel was a full participant at the hearing to approve the minor's settlement but failed to inform anyone of this material fact.

Then, Defendant Carpenter in her brief argued that the existence of the \$1,000,000.00 coverage would have been immaterial to Judge Middleton. (Appellant brief at p. 17.) Her rationale behind this speculation is that the court approved a "nuisance" settlement with knowledge of staggering past medicals; so, therefore, it's safe to assume the court would have approved the settlement with this omitted information as well.

That argument is interesting. It is as though Defendant Carpenter forgot that Judge Middleton when advised of this omitted fact entered an order referencing "insufficient evidence" at the 2005 hearing and "additional evidence" presented by the Banks' new counsel as justification for setting aside the August 11, 2005 Decree that approved the Ryheim's \$5,000 settlement distribution. (Order Setting Aside Settlement, R. at 206.) And while the standard is not a subjective standard involving a guess of what Judge Middleton would have done but rather an objective standard of whether a reasonable jurist following the law would have considered the existence of a \$1,000,000.00 policy to be material, it is nonetheless clear that Judge Middleton concluded that the omitted insurance information was very material in this particular case.

# Time Delay in Filing Motion to Set Aside Decree Approving Settlement Did Not Prejudice Defendant Carpenter

Just like nothing was done to prosecute the Banks' claims before Ryheim's settlement was approved in the Summer of 2005, nothing was done after the settlement in the underlying circuit court litigation until the Banks finally discharged their counsel and hired other counsel. Defendant Carpenter has never offered any evidence or argument identifying how she has been prejudiced. In fact, at the August 26, 2008 chancery court hearing on the Banks' motion to set aside the settlement, counsel for the Banks challenged counsel for Defendant Carpenter to identify even one prejudice that the delay has caused her:

He [counsel for Defendant Carpenter] hasn't shown any prejudice. He has the burden to show that they've been prejudiced. He hasn't offered anything to show that they've been prejudiced, unlike Dr. Bush [in the Lang case]. Dr. Bush in the Lang decision indicated that if he, if the claims go forward against him he'd have to file bankruptcy because he had no insurance coverage. Counsel opposite doesn't even suggest that in this case. We believe that Laura Carpenter may very well have significant insurance coverage. We don't know. That issue is not there but the point is, as we sit here today, and this is the first time we've heard this, that Ms. Carpenter, through her counsel, is suggesting that she could be prejudiced by the delay. She can suffer no prejudice. The litigation in the Circuit Court is ongoing. There hasn't been a trial date set. To my knowledge there is still a significant amount of discovery that has to be done in Circuit Court. She hasn't suffered any prejudice whatsoever and counsel opposite and party opposite, Your Honor, has not offered any evidence of prejudice before this Court so I submit, Your Honor, this Court must ignore that argument. Not ignore it but reject that argument and enter an order setting aside the settlement.

#### (R., Vol. 3, at 21.)

In response to this challenge, Defendant Carpenter through her counsel simply stated, "I think the prejudice is obvious on its face . . . ."; and then went on to completely ignore the issue. (R., Vol. 3, at 23.) She has done the same thing in the Brief of Appellant filed in this Court. (Brief of Appellant at pp. 6-7.)<sup>3</sup>

In the time between the 2005 settlement with Defendant Carpenter and the Banks' filing of their original petition to set aside the settlement and amended petition to set aside the settlement, the law in Mississippi was evolving with regard to the effect that settlement and release of an agent has on a vicarious liability claim against the principal. The release entered into in connection with the 2005 settlement with Defendant Carpenter expressly reserved Ryheim's vicarious liability claims against her employer Natchez Community Hospital. (Release, R. at 37.) At the time of the settlement, the law in Mississippi was that the release of an agent had no effect on a vicarious claim against that agent's principal. W. J. Runyon & Son,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Defendant Carpenter, for example, cannot point to even a single deposition that was taken without the participation of her counsel. In fact, her counsel was present in all of the many depositions taken in 2009 after the Banks filed their motion to set aside the settlement and bring Defendant Carpenter back into the litigation.

Inc. v. Davis, 605 So. 2d 38 (Miss. 1992), over'r on other grounds by Richardson v. APAC-Mississippi, Inc., 631 So. 2d 143 (Miss. 1994).

Subsequent to the 2005 settlement, this Court decided J & J Timber Co. v. Broome, 932 So. 2d 1 (Miss. 2006) which expressly overruled Runyon and held that the release of an agent or employee operated as a matter of law to release vicarious claims against that agent's principal notwithstanding any reservations in the release to the contrary. Then, in February of 2008, the Mississippi Court of Appeals handed down its decision in In the Matter of the Guardianship of Lane, 994 So. 2d 775 (Miss. App. 2008) which affirmed an order of a chancery court setting aside a minor's settlement with a doctor defendant because, in light of J&J Timber, the settlement would have had the unintended effect of releasing the doctor's clinic. The Mississippi Court of Appeals in Lane denied the doctor defendant's petition for rehearing in June 2008. The doctor then petitioned the Mississippi Supreme Court for certiorari review, which was granted. In the meantime, in July 2008 counsel for the Banks mindful of these opinions filed the original petition to set aside the settlement with Defendant Carpenter. This original petition was grounded on the same theory as the petition filed by the minor plaintiff in Lane, i.e., that the possible retroactive application of J&J Timber justified setting aside a minor's settlement that predated that decision. The Banks then on August 26, 2008 brought on for hearing their motion to set aside Ryheim's settlement.

At the time of the filing of the Banks' original petition and at the time of the hearing this Court had not completed its *certiorari* review of <u>Lane</u> and had not handed down <u>Whitaker v. T & M Foods, Ltd.</u>, 7 So. 3d 893 (Miss. 2009). The Banks, therefore, at the August 2008 hearing only addressed the effect of <u>J&J Timber</u> and not the complete and utter unfairness of a settlement that paid \$5,000 to a catastrophically brain damaged minor in exchange for the release of a

principal tortfeasor with a \$1,000,000.00 liability policy; a policy the existence of which was known only to the tortfeasor and her counsel, i.e., counsel who prepared the chancery court filings and participated at the hearing.

Following the August 2008 hearing, this Court handed down its original opinion in Whitaker v. T & M Foods, Ltd., No. 2006-CT-01365-SCT (Miss. Oct. 2, 2008), withdrawn and substituted by Whitaker v. T & M Foods, Ltd., 7 So. 3d 893 (Miss. 2009), wherein the Court ruled that the Constitution Clause of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 (Miss. Const., art. 3, section 16) prohibited the retroactive application of J & J Timber. Within weeks of this opinion, the Banks on October 24, 2008 filed their Amended Motion to Set Aside Settlement. In the Amended Motion the Banks acknowledged that Runyon and not J & J Timber applied to the August 2005 settlement with Defendant Carpenter; and, therefore, the settlement with employee Carpenter did not act to release the Banks' claims against the principal Natchez Community Hospital.<sup>4</sup> Consequently, at this time it was now appropriate for the Banks to advance their alternative theory to set aside the settlement: that the settlement must nonetheless be set aside because it was absurdly unfair; that Defendant Carpenter's counsel prepared the chancery settlement filings and expressly undertook to ensure compliance with Rule 6.10 and Miss. Code Ann. §93-13-59 (1972), and conducted the only witness examinations at the "fairness" hearing; that Defendant Carpenter and her counsel concealed the material fact that Carpenter had a \$1,000,000.00 policy to insure this claim; and, finally, that Defendant Carpenter and her counsel (and the Banks' counsel) misrepresented to the chancery court that the Banks' counsel had worked "long, hard and diligent" when in fact nothing had been done in the prosecution of this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> No parties to this litigation have denied that <u>Whitaker</u> prohibits retroactive application of <u>J & J Timber</u> to the Banks's settlement with Defendant Carpenter.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Notwithstanding all of the procedural history above, the bottom line is <u>J & J Timber</u> and its prodigy are not at issue in the present appeal. The <u>J & J Timber</u> fears that first motivated the Banks' substitute counsel to seek dissolution of the settlement with Defendant Carpenter were rendered moot by <u>Whitaker v. T & M Foods, Ltd.</u>, 7 So. 3d 893 (Miss. 2009). The August 2005 settlement with Defendant Carpenter did not serve to release the Banks' vicarious liability claims against her employer Natchez Community Hospital and no one has argued otherwise.

But, this ludicrous minor settlement must nonetheless be set aside because it was absurdly unfair and tainted with the concealment and misrepresentation of material facts. Judge Middleton, who approved the first settlement and then set aside his own approval, recognized as much. The only issue before this Court is whether Judge Middleton's June 30, 2009 Order setting aside his August 2005 Decree was arbitrary, capricious and an abuse of discretion. With this Defendant Carpenter and the Banks' agree.

#### **ARGUMENT**

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